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Praise for Muckraker by W. Sydney Robinson




‘A timely study of Britain’s first investigative journalist … with impeccable research, Mr Robinson elegantly pieces together the backstory.’


– Tobias Grey, Wall Street Journal




 





‘A lively and laconic biography.’


– John Pemble, London Review of Books




 





‘I grew to quite dislike [Stead] as I read Muckraker, but that’s because


Robinson knows how to tell a story.’


– Jonathan Mirsky, The Spectator




 





‘W. Sydney Robinson’s admirably thoughtful and economical biography could hardly be better timed. Closely researched and briskly written, it does an excellent job of explaining one of the most extraordinary individuals in journalistic history.’


– Dominic Sandbrook, Sunday Times




 





‘With a lovely eye for detail, a wry sense of irony and a fine grasp of character, it brings alive an age in which sensationalist papers went further in search of a story than even Rebekah Brooks would think appropriate.’


– Prospect magazine




 





‘W. Sydney Robinson’s energetic, thorough and hospitable new biography spares nothing.’


– Jonathan Barnes, Times Literary Supplement




 





‘Robinson is a resourceful investigator and a connoisseur of human paradox.’


– Irish Times




 





‘A timely, well-written biography of the brilliant, flawed Victorian journalist.’


– Bel Mooney, Daily Mail




 





‘Tragically compelling.’


– Toby Thomas, Literary Review







 





‘This is, quite simply, a marvellous book, the best I have read this year so far. Every politician and journalist should slip a copy of this slim, brilliantly written volume by a new young author into their holiday luggage this summer.’


– Lord Lexden, The House




 





‘W. Sydney Robinson has produced an entertaining and clear-eyed introduction to an extraordinary life.’


– Robert Gray, The Tablet




 





‘An engrossing biography.’


– Times Higher Education




 





‘Gives a singular editor his rightful place in the history of journalism.’


– Western Mail




 





‘An excellent account.’


– The Oldie
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Colonel Blimp and the Old School Tie, for whom Three Cheers.


J. M. Keynes, New Statesman, 14 October 1939




 





The oldest hath borne the most; we that are young


Shall never see so much, nor live so long.


Shakespeare, King Lear, Act V, Scene iii



















INTRODUCTION





When I used to daydream at the back of my classroom at school it was a habit of mine to examine something called ‘The School’s Chronology of World History’, which hung upon the wall. Here, in a distance scarcely more than my youthful arms could reach, seemed to me a complete record of man’s history on earth. Dissecting the timeline near the beginning were ‘the Ancient Egyptians’ with their flat faces and strange beards; then came ‘the Greeks’ with their airy temples and towel-clad philosophers; next were ‘the Romans’ with their fine bridges and beefy centurions; after them a slightly chaotic looking era called ‘the Middle Ages’, giving way at last to a montage of muskets, tobacco pipes and sheep enclosures. On the story rolled, past ‘the Victorians’ and the two world wars into ‘the Present Day’ – rather disturbingly represented, if I recall correctly, by a suited man grinning down upon me as if from the boardroom wall.


Even then, this all seemed too perfect. Was it possible that the Egyptians died out with Ptolemy XV in 30 BC? Or that the Romans sunk without trace in 455? Or that the Middle Ages ended with a whimper at Bosworth Field in 1485?


I did not think so. Many stalwarts of these old regimes must have lived on for decades – for some families, centuries perhaps – keeping up the same life while the world around them changed beyond recognition. With time against me, I resolved to find myself one of these living fossils: a real-life ‘Victorian’. From that idea, hatched in my mind over twenty years ago, has emerged this book.


My first assistant in this audacious quest was my beloved grandfather, John Rossdale. Well can I remember his wry smile when I innocently asked if he could recall ‘the olden days’. Born in the mid-1920s to an affluent professional family, he forgave my impertinence by describing some of the more exalted aspects of his parents’ and grandparents’ era: the grand houses, the starchy clothes and the libraries of French and German books which a dwindling number of the household could actually read. It all seemed so far away as we sat in his modest west London flat. He might as well have been telling me about the stories of the Old Testament.


It came as a shock, as it does in the life of any child, to realise that my grandfather was not the oldest creature alive upon this earth. Soon my investigations were throwing up elderly individuals twenty or thirty years his senior. They were of a very different sort to him. No indulgent smiles from them; no liking of children or amusements – many did not even own television sets. But there was something about them I found impossible not to hold in silent awe. They seemed to carry the treasure of a vanished age. And I can recall thinking, even in my extreme youth, that it would be my privilege to belong to the last generation which would – however dimly – remember them.


For about fifteen years these memories lay dormant in my mind. I then enrolled on a university history course and began to learn about the mysteries of the past in much more detail. Or so it seemed. The sense of connectedness I had previously felt with my frock-coated predecessors was rudely disillusioned when I discovered that a particular year – be it 1900, 1910 or 1914 – really had shattered Victorian civilisation, just as the School’s Chronology had claimed all along. There was the evidence of The Times leader-writer who wrote upon the death of William Gladstone in 1898 ‘that with that honoured life there passes away not a man merely, but an epoch’ – a sentiment echoed upon the demise of the revered queen three years later. There was also the more dramatic testimony of the novelist Virginia Woolf who opined in the early 1920s that ‘on or about December 1910 human character changed’. And there was the brilliant attack of the magazine Blast, which enthused in the summer of 1914:




Blast years 1837 to 1900! … Blast their weeping whiskers, hirsute rhetoric of eunuch and stylist, sentimental hygienics, Rousseauisms (wild nature cranks) fraternizing with monkeys, DIABOLICS, raptures and roses of the erotic bookshelves culminating in purgatory of Putney.1





This was the sort of thing we undergraduates were expected to write about in our essays.


Which seemed to me ridiculous. The more independent reading that I did – not of dull textbooks, but masses of old newspapers, magazines and the like – suggested that at least until the 1960s and 1970s the ‘Victorians’, though silent and out of sight, were alive and kicking. They dwelt in places as various as Pall Mall clubs, dreary seaside cottages and chilly, unloved tenement blocks, emerging every so often to denounce the slide in manners and morals since their parents’ day. Thousands of them nodded in restrained approval over their marmalade and toast as they read letters in the press from the likes of one Mrs Sheila Carter complaining that articles on contraception ‘encourage[d] immorality among the younger generation’. Powerful figures such as The Times editor Sir William Rees-Mogg and his crusading ally Lord Longford threw their weight behind rearguard campaigns to slow the pace of change. Thousands of these lonely zealots, equally offended by the prevalence of ‘filth’ on television and in literature, joined the National Viewers’ and Listeners’ Association of Mary Whitehouse. Greater numbers yet lived out quiet but influential lives as magistrates, schoolmasters and policemen.2


It would be dangerous to lay down what exactly this mass of dissident opinion believed, let alone how much in common it had with the prudish morality of the Victorian watchdog of art and literature, ‘Mrs Grundy’. It might be enough to say that those who objected to the rise of the permissive society in the 1960s were instinctively conservative, puritanical and parochial in outlook. Their story is an interesting one, worthy of a much longer book than this; it can only be treated incidentally here.


My defence is that there are still many prominent ‘Victorian’ figures from the last century who have suffered the same neglect of history as Mrs Whitehouse and her brigade. Any reader of the newspapers or magazines of the 1920s and 1930s, for instance, would be amazed to find little mention of the acknowledged greats of that era: T. S. Eliot, Evelyn Waugh, Roger Fry or – looking on a more European scale – Pablo Picasso. Instead he or she would find frequent mention of many characters often completely ignored in the standard textbooks published in more recent times. Four of these individuals, from the worlds of politics, religion, broadcasting and journalism respectively, make up the quartet of this group biography.


In this I have betrayed my sympathy for the now offensively Victorian ‘great men’ approach to history. For this I am unrepentant. So too, after all, was the greatest of all the debunkers of the Victorian era, Lytton Strachey. Like him, I have attempted to give a portrait of an age – in my case, the afterglow of an age – through the lives of four individuals who, despite being practically strangers to one another, seem to personify my theme. The four whom I have selected may not have been regarded by their contemporaries as giants in the way that Cardinal Manning, Dr Arnold, General Gordon and Florence Nightingale all were – beings, wrote one survivor into the new century, who seemed to ‘live on islands segregated from the great human stream of life that poured itself into an ocean which they never saw’. They were more prosaically dismissed as ‘pygmies’. In an age of satire and dirt-digging, their moral seriousness only served to make them seem ridiculous.3


The stock character invented by the inter-war journalist David Low to personify these figures was the bigoted and dim-witted retired staff officer Colonel Blimp. Wrapped in a towel in the Turkish bath of his club, he would explain to his bewildered companion that peace depended on militarism; that freedom was founded upon repression; that patriotism was the highest form of internationalism, and other examples of the counter-intuitive wisdom of the day. He symbolised the ‘old men’ who had allowed Britain to sleepwalk into a ruinous world war in 1914, and would continue to stand in the way of ‘progress’ long after. As I became more sympathetic towards my real-life Blimps, I felt increasingly like one of the ‘descendants of Blimp’ whom Low envisaged communing with his unloved creation ‘in letters of fire on asbestos newspaper’: ‘Gad Sir,’ I have occasionally sighed, ‘you were right.’
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CHAPTER 1


THE POLICEMAN OF THE LORD: SIR


WILLIAM JOYNSON-HICKS AT THE


HOME OFFICE







A Puritan is such a one as loves God with all his soul, but hates his neighbour with all his heart.


– Seventeenth-century saying





Shortly after midnight on 21 April 1926, a rotund, thin-lipped figure, swinging an ebony and silver cane, arrived at the mansion of the Earl of Strathmore in Mayfair. Although dressed rather haphazardly in loose and comfortable clothing, his superior demeanour – proud to the point of brashness – suggested his high office. The gentleman was Sir William Joynson-Hicks, the Home Secretary. He had come to execute one of the most solemn and unusual duties known to the British state: the oversight of the birth of an heir to the throne, the future Queen Elizabeth II.


It was a highly apposite undertaking for a man of his disposition. Excessively grave, though possessing a wild and fanatical imagination, ‘Jix’ – as he was popularly known – took his role as inspector of royal warming-pans with the utmost seriousness. It was by means of one of these conveyances that a ‘changeling’ was believed to have been smuggled into the queen’s bedroom during the confinement of James II’s unhappy wife, Mary of Modena. No such subterfuge would occur under the eagle-eyed vigil of Home Secretary Jix. For some three hours he sat in dignified silence with the child’s father, the future George VI, until at last, the new-born princess was produced from behind a closed door. After congratulating the duke and bowing stiffly to the baby, Jix left the scene with haste. ‘It would be indeed interesting’, he mused to himself afterwards, ‘if we once more had a Queen Elizabeth, but, alas, I shall be too old to play Lord Burghley to her!’4


Such thoughts came only too naturally to the man who had begun life, sixty-one years previously, as plain William Hicks, the eldest of four sons and two daughters of a pious Smithfield meat merchant, Henry Hicks, and his wife, Harriet. Yet the high regard with which he viewed himself was not entirely unjustified. Though born without any obvious advantages in life, Jix ended his days a Viscount, an ex-Cabinet minister and a national figure.


How had he managed it? Jix was more than happy to explain. ‘I began life with nothing’, he told one enquirer, ‘and have worked hard for well over forty years – when I say hard, I mean really hard.’5


It was in his parents’ modest Canonbury home that this tenacious character was forged. Even by the standards of 1865, the household was almost perversely antiquated – Victorian by date and Puritan in outlook. Hicks’s mother, a prayerful though severe woman, believed implicitly in the literal truth of the Bible and sought to live in ‘closest communion with the Creator’. Games and novels were as unfamiliar to her as the sound of uproarious laughter. And if any of her children strayed from his allotted path, her stern husband had ‘no hesitation in resorting to a sound thrashing’. These strictures, however, were no encumbrance to the eldest of the brood. ‘Though our amusements were simple,’ he reflected in adulthood, ‘they were sufficient, and led … to greater happiness than is achieved by the more pampered children of today.’6


The family worshipped twice every Sunday at a local Anglican church noted for its Evangelical leanings. It was here that the budding Spartan was brought, aged fourteen, to swear on the Bible that he would abstain from alcohol for the rest of his life. The pledge would be observed, like all other manifestations of self-denial, with extraordinary gleefulness. Even as the distinguished master of a City livery company, Jix would solemnly inform the wine waiters to keep him topped up with nothing more corrupting than ginger ale. Yet he was not without a sense of fun. When once accidentally replenished with champagne, the merry Puritan heartily congratulated his benefactor for introducing him to what he called an ‘excellent new type’ of his accustomed beverage.7


To contemporaries at the Merchant Taylors’ School, where he was sent as a day boy in 1875, Hicks proved himself as neither a scholar nor a sportsman. But his abilities as an orator were soon acknowledged. The school magazine records victories in debates that would later be replayed with more formality, though scarcely less earnestness, from the dispatch box of the House of Commons. One motion he carried supported the death penalty; another called for the immediate retirement of the hero of the Liberal Party, William Gladstone.


Having briefly flirted with Liberalism himself, Hicks found his voice as a champion of conservative values. He spoke regularly on the platforms of the Church of England Temperance Society and a local Tory debating club. By his late teens he had become quite a well-known speaker, and boasted of having the ‘most extensive acquaintance with Bishops of any layman’ in the country.8


Success in the meat business allowed Hicks’s father to move the family to a large house in Kent, Plaistow Hall, in 1885. But it was felt that the heir of this fortune should enter a profession straightaway rather than go up to university. So in 1881, aged sixteen, Hicks was articled to a prominent firm of Lincoln’s Inn solicitors, Messrs. Monckton, Long and Gardiner, to study the law. This proved to be a turning point; but Hicks did not make an especially favourable impression on either his employer or his colleagues. On one occasion a burly clerk saw no way of terminating an unwanted sermon on morality than by throwing the speaker down a steep flight of stairs.


After completing his training, Hicks took the first of a number of seemingly bold and reckless steps by setting up his own practice. With what little money he had saved, the 21-year-old rented a shabby room in the Old Jewry chambers, where he sat at his desk each day from nine in the morning until six in the evening reading Gibbon’s Decline and Fall of the Roman Empire, legal textbooks and ‘other stiff volumes which prevented me from getting into mischief ’. Characteristically, he also expended five shillings a week on an office boy, whom he instructed to make profitable use of the vacant hours by copying out old title deeds and contracts.9


Gradually, the situation became more favourable for Hicks. This was mostly due to his father becoming an associate director of the London General Omnibus Company, which brought him a modest number of cases relating to transport law. Phenomenal industry bolstered Hicks’s good fortune. ‘I rushed about London’, he recalled, ‘…as enquiry agent, draughtsman, writer and subsequently prepared briefs for Counsel.’ He even found time to prepare a sturdy reference book entitled The Law of Light and Heavy Mechanical Traction on the Highways, which established him as an early authority in the field.10


These efforts did not go unnoticed. By the end of his first year in practice Hicks had attracted a partner to his firm, and was already becoming well-known in the courts as a ferocious litigator. A letter from an early client gives the tenor of his methods: ‘I hope you will pursue this man as relentlessly as you pursued me when you were acting against me.’ On another occasion, a woman whom he was chasing for a debt declared that she would sooner hang herself in his office than pay up. ‘Madam,’ the beady young lawyer replied, ‘there is only one personal favour I ask: if you must do this, please do it on a Wednesday – the night when the office cleaner comes.’ The money was apparently soon forthcoming.11


A degree of success was now assured, but Hicks did not acquire the modesty or bonhomie required to reach the summit of his profession. When a much older and more distinguished lawyer, a King’s Counsel, appeared to cut across him during a meeting with a client, young Hicks grandly resolved never to send him another brief. ‘Let that be a useful warning’, he seriously wrote in his memoirs, ‘…as to the treatment of young solicitors who do not wish to be put into the background in the presence of their clients.’12


Hicks could never tolerate being placed in the background. As he approached his thirtieth birthday he reflected that he had already achieved all that a lawyer possibly could. Now his ambition found its proper outlet – politics.
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The most significant event in the political career of the future Sir William Joynson-Hicks occurred in August 1894 at the home of a wealthy uncle living on the French Riviera. It was here that the rising solicitor was introduced to Grace Lynn Joynson, the shy and unassuming 21-year-old only child of a successful Manchester silk manufacturer and local Conservative Party figure named Richard Hampson Joynson.13


If there was something premeditated about this meeting, there was nothing particularly unusual about an ambitious young man seeking out an heiress. Even among the aristocracy, matches of this kind oiled the wheels of political power. What made Hicks’s position different was his reluctance even to cloak this practical arrangement with the pretence of romance. Rather than trying to woo the young woman directly, he charmed her father, whom he claimed to have become enamoured with prior to noticing his daughter.


A remarkably swift courtship ensued. After a few supervised walks in the countryside surrounding Menton, Hicks proposed and was accepted. Satisfied with his speedy work, he continued with his holiday, sending Grace occasional proclamations of his affection from new destinations. These letters were to cease after their marriage early the following year, when Hicks incorporated her name into his own. On the day of the wedding, the groom thought nothing of spending the morning poring over legal documents at his office.


Joynson-Hicks, as he now became, seemed to have the world at his feet. Young, rich and increasingly well-connected, it was only a matter of time before his father-in-law secured his selection for a parliamentary seat. But the Manchester to which he was taken for his first political outing was no easy place for a Tory hopeful to make his reputation. Though selected to stand for Manchester North in 1898, the unknown candidate was defeated in the general election of 1900 by the eye-watering margin of twenty-six votes. At the next parliamentary contest, in 1906, he failed to secure what should have been the safe seat of Manchester North-West by a larger deficit of 1,241. Small was the consolation that his failure coincided with one of the worst nights in the party’s history – even the Prime Minister, Arthur Balfour, lost his seat in the neighbouring constituency of Manchester East.


The victor of the Manchester North-West election was a young Tory renegade who had lately joined the Liberals in protest over the Tariff Reform (protectionism) agenda. His name was Winston Churchill. He had met his vanquished adversary two years previously at a dinner party hosted by his cousin, the Hon. Ivor Guest, whose legal affairs Joynson-Hicks handled. At the end of the meal, Churchill gently took the intemperate solicitor to one side and said: ‘I am so sorry I am coming to Manchester to queer your pitch.’ Needless to say, the listener was not amused. ‘I noted at the time the calm assurance that he would succeed in doing so,’ he recalled. Exactly two years after the disappointment of 1906, the thwarted parliamentarian had an opportunity to exact his revenge.14


His chance arose directly from Churchill’s extraordinary success as a Liberal. At the outset of 1908 the future war leader was appointed President of the Board of Trade, which required him, due to a technicality in the law at the time, to offer himself for re-election. Convention dictated that no gentleman would upset this formality, but Joynson-Hicks felt no compunction in going after what he called this ‘guerrilla chieftain who was once a lieutenant of our party’. His fiery campaign, lasting almost three months, attracted an unprecedented amount of press coverage. So distressed were the leaders of the Liberal Party that the new Chancellor of the Exchequer, David Lloyd George, was dispatched to the city to make a surprise endorsement of his young colleague, while the novelist H. G. Wells penned a bitter denunciation of Joynson-Hicks as ‘an obscure and ineffectual nobody … [representing] the worst element in British political life at the present time’.15


The abuse was not entirely undeserved. In his desperation to win votes, Joynson-Hicks employed such extreme tactics that even the leaders of his own party seemed reluctant to lend their support. In a characteristically bombastic speech, afterwards printed and distributed to thousands of potential supporters, he accused Churchill and his Liberal colleagues of a staggering array of crimes. ‘In two short years’, he thundered, they had




alienated our colonies, thrown away the fruits of the Transvaal war, attempted to gerrymander our Constitution, increased our taxation, flouted our religious convictions, let loose chaos and bloodshed in Ireland and are now setting out to attack every trade and institution not prepared to obey the rattle of the Radical drum.16





The candidate followed up this extraordinary onslaught by taking issue with the new Licensing Act, ironically designed to promote one of his most fanatical passions – sobriety. The problem, complained Joynson-Hicks, was that the measure ‘embodied in naked form pure socialism’.


Although Churchill had been confident of victory right up to the close of the poll on 23 April, Joynson-Hicks achieved a huge swing of almost 10 per cent, winning by a majority of little more than 400 votes. Like Lord Byron before him, ‘Jix’ – as his supporters dubbed him – awoke to fame. In Manchester’s Albert Square a vast crowd of 100,000 ‘packed [in] like sardines’ to cheer on their new MP. None felt the enormity of the catastrophe more than Churchill, who lamented the outcome of what he described as ‘one of the fiercest and most strenuously contested battles in the political history of our country’.17


Jix’s victory was all the more amazing on account of the strong opposition of the entire Jewish community of Manchester, whose leaders opposed the Conservative-backed Aliens Act of 1905. This controversial piece of legislation had given the Home Secretary of the day powers to deport undesirable foreign nationals, placing the first significant restrictions on the rate of immigration in British history. Though popular with the majority of the electorate, the cosmopolitan nature of Manchester ensured that the issue weighted against the Tory candidate – Churchill had tactically opposed it. Foolishly, Jix allowed feelings of bitterness to outlive his sensational victory. Just a few days after his success, he had this to say to the members of a Jewish dining society:




If you like I could say smooth things. I could say that you are a delightful people, that the Jews are delightful opponents, that I am very pleased to receive the opposition of the Jewish community, and that, in spite of all, I am your very humble and obedient servant. I could say that if you like, but it would not be true in the slightest degree … I have beaten you thoroughly and soundly, and I am no longer your servant.18





This was an outrageous statement for a newly elected Member of Parliament to make. Critics, unconvinced by Jix’s explanation that his words had been justified by the vehemence of the campaign against him, took the gaffe as an early indication that he was not a man for practical politics. Regarded as fatally ‘accident prone’, it was said by the satirist and politician A. P. Herbert that whenever Jix opened his mouth there followed ‘the gentle sound of dropping bricks’. The furore caused by his comments would live long in the memory of his constituents, blighting his chances of re-election and those of his party for many years to come. After losing his seat in the general election of 1910, the villain of the piece decamped to Brentford, which he represented in Parliament until 1918, when he transferred to the safe Conservative seat of Twickenham.19


An even more regrettable consequence of Jix’s by-election victory was that he returned to Westminster in the manner of a triumphant Prime Minister. ‘It was a mistake to win a spectacular by-election,’ he later confessed, ‘…I am afraid that I thought I was a more important person than I really was.’ A long and pompous maiden speech set the tone for a disappointing first decade in Parliament. But even if he had been able to show the humility and sensitivity required of a loyal backbencher, it is unlikely that he would have gone on to be offered a ministerial position. As well as facing a degree of prejudice about his obscure origins, Jix had a habit of attaching himself to hopeless causes, which – however righteous they may have been – distanced him from the respectable leadership of his party.20


The case of Brigadier General Reginald Dyer perfectly highlighted this ambiguity. In April 1919, Dyer was dispatched to Amritsar, a Punjab city of 160,000 inhabitants, with orders to put down a violent nationalist insurrection. Accompanied by a small contingent of Sikh and Ghurkha riflemen, he paraded through the streets, warning the townsmen that martial law was in operation and that public meetings would be dispersed by force if necessary. On 13 April, in defiance of this proclamation, between 5,000 and 20,000 unarmed protesters gathered in Jallianwallah Bagh, a public square near the Golden Temple. Fearing the onset of a major rebellion, Dyer ordered his troops to open fire. After ten minutes of engagement, at least four hundred protesters lay dead and over one thousand more wounded. Dyer did nothing to help the injured and imposed a so-called ‘crawling order’ whereby any Indian seeking entrance to a street in which a female missionary had previously been assaulted had to proceed along it on all fours.21


On the face of it, this was a completely indefensible action, and Dyer was roundly condemned by liberal public opinion when news of the massacre reached England. A commission of inquiry found him to have shown a ‘serious error of judgement’, and he was duly cashiered from the army.


But to the British in India and their friends at home, Dyer was a hero. Jix eagerly took up their cause. In the hope of exonerating the disgraced officer, he made a three-month tour of the Punjab. The devastation he saw confirmed his suspicion that Dyer had been the scapegoat of an incompetent civilian government which had lost control of the region.


Upon his return to England, Jix joined forces with several other disaffected Tories to table a motion in the House of Commons calling for a reduction of £100 in the salary of the Liberal Secretary of State for India, Edwin Montagu. This canny exploitation of parliamentary procedure brilliantly circumvented the government’s unwillingness to discuss the case of General Dyer. On the afternoon of 8 July 1920, the indefatigable MP for Twickenham arose to begin what was to become known as the Amritsar Debate.


Jix’s performance in this historic onslaught upon the actions of a minister secured him a place in the pantheon of great backbench rebels. In sharp contrast to Montagu, whose attack on Dyer bordered on hysterical, Jix calmly asked his colleagues to consider the implications of Dyer’s disgrace. What, he asked, would happen the next time senior British officers were faced with the spectre of rebellion?




Are you going to tell them that this House of Commons has supported the action of the Army Council in the case of General Dyer, and are you going to tell them also that in the future in any action they may take they will not have the support of Great Britain? We must trust the men on the spot. We send out our best men to the Indian Civil Service and to the Army, and we have to trust them not once or twice, but at all times.22





With a populist touch, Jix closed his speech by reading extracts from a letter written to him by the English woman whose assault had precipitated the whole crisis.


At the end of the debate, the motion censuring Montagu was easily defeated, but the minister never fully recovered from the drubbing he had received. Dyer, who looked on with contentment from the public gallery, was later compensated with over £25,000 raised by a campaign launched by the Morning Post, to which Jix and his wife contributed generously.


No less controversial was Jix’s opposition to the Government of Ireland Act, which effected the partition of that country the following year. Jix believed that an irrecoverable settlement of this kind would leave Protestant loyalists at the mercy of Republican extremists, and would also encourage nationalist intrigue elsewhere in the Empire. Although his Indian tour had prevented him from taking part in the second reading of the Bill, he explained his views on the subject of Ireland on many other occasions, both in the House of Commons and in appearances before his constituents. During a particularly heated debate in 1913, he asked the then Prime Minister, Herbert Asquith, in a tone more suited to his days as an abstinence crusader than a seasoned politician, to consider the possibility of unionist ‘rebels’ one day clashing with British troops:




Behind them there are half a million women and children. Behind them is the whole Unionist [Conservative] Party in the House of Commons. Above them is the Lord God of Battles. In His name and under His protection I say to you, the Prime Minister, with your arms and with your batteries, fire! Fire, if you dare! Fire, and be damned!23





This native outspokenness was given free rein during the troubled years of the First World War. Already personally loathed by the war leader for tabling almost 500 amendments to his ‘People’s Budget’ of 1909, Jix harried Lloyd George and the ministers of his coalition government for not doing more to defeat the Germans. Once again, senior Tories could only blush at the vehemence of Jix’s rhetoric. While they sidled up to their former opponents in the national interest and – less explicitly – to prevent the arrival of the first Labour administration, the meddlesome backbencher found his home among a rump of backward-looking Conservative MPs known as the ‘diehards’.


In recognition of his role in forming two ‘Footballers’ Battalions’ during the war, Jix was awarded a baronetcy by King George V at the end of 1919. The conflict had seriously delayed his rise to prominence, but he could at least be thankful that neither of his young sons, Richard and Lancelot, had been lost in battle. With a disappointing political career apparently behind him, Jix, a latter-day Cincinnatus, bought a modest country estate outside Norwich and contemplated taking up the plough in retirement. Nothing could have prepared him for the remarkable events of 1922–24 which would bring him to the brink of the highest office in the state.
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The coalition government headed up by David Lloyd George and the leader of the Conservative Party, Austen Chamberlain, seemed virtually impregnable at the outset of 1922. A lingering sense of wartime solidarity combined with industrial unrest and economic recession had convinced the majority within Parliament that party politics needed to be suspended. Yet outside Westminster, there was a widespread feeling that the coalition was a sham. It was to Jix and his fellow diehards that this silent majority looked for action.


Jix had campaigned against the government, in season and out, ever since its inception. Each time a senior Conservative indicated his dissent from one of his Liberal colleagues, he would fire off letters to the press predicting the imminent downfall of the government. This did little to improve Jix’s political fortunes. When he was given the opportunity in April 1922 to propose a vote of ‘no confidence’ in the government, he was cut down to size by the cruel wit of the Tory leader. Pointing up to Jix, alone on his backbench, Chamberlain joked that this ridiculous figure was ‘the alternative Prime Minister.’ In a cutting reference to Jix’s constituency, he went on to say that although ‘For God, King and Empire’ might be ‘good enough for Twickenham’, it did not pass muster in the House of Commons. The motion was easily defeated.24


A series of remarkable events in the summer of 1922 transformed the situation for Jix. In a climate in which the government was already divided by a bitter territory dispute involving Greece and Turkey, three sensational developments brought the coalition to its knees. First, on 22 June, an inveterate opponent of Lloyd George’s Irish settlement, Field Marshal Sir Henry Wilson, was assassinated by Republican terrorists on the doorstep of his London home. A fortnight later Lloyd George’s credibility was again shaken by a major cash-for-honours scandal which overnight destroyed his never particularly assured reputation as a man of integrity. To this formidable litany of misery was added the announcement by the Tory grandee Lord Salisbury that he henceforth considered himself to be the true leader of the ‘whole Conservative and Unionist Party’. The diehards now had a banner around which to rally and a wounded quarry to pursue.


Jix moved quickly and silently in his intrigue. He made it his duty to gather together Conservatives from all wings of the party in order to effect a dramatic coup. Although by no means the only plotter, he made appearances at a greater number of clandestine meetings than any of his colleagues. This put him in an excellent position once the party voted to renounce Chamberlain and the coalition at a meeting held at the Carlton Club on the morning of 19 October.


Not for the first time, however, Jix’s ambitions were thwarted. When the new Prime Minister, the dour Scots-Canadian ironmonger Andrew Bonar Law, offered to recompense him with a minor position at the Colonial Office, Jix seriously contemplated refusing in protest. It was his wife who wisely persuaded him to accept the offer, which she believed would lead to bigger and better things.


So it turned out. Following the premature departure and death of Bonar Law the following year, a new leader emerged who recognised Jix as a man of honesty and ability. Stanley Baldwin had relatively little ministerial experience, but was sufficiently popular with his colleagues to step easily into Bonar Law’s shoes. His connection with Jix went back to the famous 1908 by-election, when he had journeyed up to Manchester to speak on the Tory candidate’s behalf. Although the two men were of markedly different temperament, their shared love of the English countryside and uncomplicated approach to politics served as the basis for a friendship of sorts.


A series of modest ministerial positions were duly bestowed on Jix. In Baldwin’s short-lived administration of 1923, he served successively as Paymaster General, Postmaster General, Financial Secretary to the Treasury and Minister of Health – offices made available by the rapid ascent of Austen Chamberlain’s younger half-brother, Neville, who was included by Baldwin as a sop to the old regime.


As was all too apparent from the unpredictable reshuffles, Baldwin’s government lacked both experience and political clout. Fears that the party had opted for the wrong course in abandoning the coalition seemed to be justified when Baldwin decided, after just one year in office, to call a snap election on the divisive issue of Tariff Reform.


Jix was among the first of Baldwin’s colleagues to note the recklessness of this scheme, not least for the additional cost it would entail for self-made MPs such as himself. ‘It would be most unpopular with our party in the House,’ he warned his leader. ‘They have all paid one thousand pounds to get there and their wives do not want to pay another thousand with the risk of being thrown out.’25


The result of the election more than justified this sombre warning – it led to a hung parliament and the first Labour administration in British history. In the diehard Morning Post there were howls of a ‘terrible awakening’ accompanied by tales of ‘systematic violence and rowdyism’ by Labour men. ‘Can anyone be surprised’, a gloomy editorial pronounced, ‘that Italy should have found an answer in Fascism to the intolerable servitude of submission to such methods of conducting politics?’26


Jix flourished in this climate of hysteria. Week after week, in Parliament and at public meetings, he denounced the Labour administration and all its ways, prophesying the imminent breakdown of social order and constitutional government. In February 1924, just one month after the fall of Baldwin’s ailing minority administration, he explained to the voters of Burnley that behind the ‘milk-and-water’ exterior of men like the Labour Prime Minister, Ramsay MacDonald, there were dark forces at work which would soon ‘let loose the dogs of war’ in Europe, creating ‘mutiny, bloodshed, and red ruin in our land’. A week later he roused the Marylebone Constitutional Assembly with a cry that Labour ‘interlopers’ had undermined the Protestant work ethic by offering unemployment benefit as a solution to mass unemployment.27


Other speeches delivered during Jix’s busy nine months out of office similarly captured the hopes and fears of his lower-middle class hinterland. In one oration he proposed to begin an emergency house-building programme; in another he clamoured for the cutting of red tape ‘with a large pair of scissors’, and in yet another fulmination he demanded that all road signage designed for health and safety purposes be torn down and sold for scrap.28


Jix reaped the rewards of his hard work in October 1924 when a ‘Red Scare’ forced MacDonald to call a general election. The crisis was precipitated by the decision of the Attorney General, Sir Patrick Hastings, to drop the prosecution of the left-wing journalist J. R. Campbell for calling upon soldiers to ‘line up with your fellow workers … [to] attack … the exploiters and capitalists’ in the event of a war or a major industrial dispute. Hastings’s injudicious decision seemed to confirm Jix’s suspicion that the Labour Party was little more than a cloak for international Bolshevism. The government’s position was made even worse when the so-called ‘Zinoviev letter’ fell into the hands of the tabloid press just four days before votes were to be cast. This purported to be instructions from the leaders of the Soviet regime as to how a communist revolution could be effected in Britain. Though its authenticity was contested from the outset, and is now believed by some experts to have originated in Conservative Central Office itself, Jix used the letter further to tar the Labour government. As he nonchalantly explained to the children of the Orleans School, Twickenham: ‘I have always said that the Bolshevist rulers of Russia are utterly untrustworthy and the kind of people that no loyal Englishman could have anything to do with.’29


Baldwin was the chief beneficiary of this sensation, but he did not share Jix’s rabid hatred of socialism, and was disinclined to promote his fiery lieutenant from the Department of Health. Clearly, the restored Prime Minister had not reckoned with Jix’s formidable powers of persuasion. As the process of ‘Cabinet making’ began, the First Lord of the Admiralty, Leo Amery, heard ‘the most amazing stories’ about Jix’s ‘pathetic’ attempts to seek advancement in the new government. In similar vein, Austen Chamberlain wrote angrily to his sister that the political stripling was ‘moving heaven and earth’ to obtain favour. This seems to have included lobbying of the owner of the Daily Express, Lord Beaverbrook, who described Jix as a potential future leader of the party.30


These factors combined to persuade Baldwin to throw over his former Home Secretary, his close friend and ally William Bridgeman, in favour of Jix. Though recognised as a ‘leap in the dark’ by Baldwin’s biographers, circumstances ensured that his bold decision was well received. According to the reporter from the Daily News, Jix took up his seat on the front bench of the new parliament in November 1924 as ‘very nearly the most popular man in the House’. His time had come.31
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When Jix was asked by acquaintances to describe his new job, his reply was simple: ‘It is I who am the ruler of England.’ The boast was not completely unfounded. The powers of the Home Secretary, derived from those of the king’s private secretary in the Middle Ages, were broad and extensive. Under his sway came every aspect of domestic governance not hived off to another department. In 1924 these powers included the exercise of the royal prerogative of mercy; the management of the criminal justice system; the supervision of the police force; the regulation of prisons; the control of immigration; the direction of the army during times of national emergency, and the implementation of censorship.


It was unfortunate that a man of Jix’s stamp should have been accorded these enormous responsibilities at such a time. British society had been profoundly changed by the trauma of the war, but was still governed by the laws of a bygone era. Even the most liberal of Home Secretaries would have been compelled to become embroiled with aspects of law and order which he might have found repellent. What made Jix’s position different was the gusto with which he discharged his duties.


Jix’s first target for reform was the newest addition to the London entertainment scene: the nightclubs. Unknown to Edwardian England, these subterranean venues – ‘haunts and hunting grounds of sharks and loose women’, as Jix’s allies in the London Public Morality Council deemed them – were the unintended consequence of wartime regulations forbidding the sale of alcohol beyond a certain hour in the evening. By masquerading as private houses, they largely avoided the notice of the police, admitting ‘members’, for a large premium, to drink and dance through to the small hours of the morning.32


From their earliest days, these clubs were loathed by officialdom. This was only partly because of their flagrant lawbreaking. Even the drugs and prostitutes which could readily be found therein were considered to be relatively minor peccadilloes compared to the effect they had on the social order. In the eyes of sardonic commentators such as Evelyn Waugh their tables attracted a motley crowd of baronets and whiskey salesmen, Oxbridge undergraduates and hardened blackmailers, army officers and pretty young ‘hostesses’. To the Evangelical turn of mind, few crimes were greater than such upper-class incursion into the hedonistic demi-monde. It was tantamount to making sin respectable.


Jix wasted no time in commencing war with his unsuspecting enemies. Only two weeks after his appointment on 4 November, he wrote to the Commissioner of the Metropolitan Police, Brigadier General Sir William Horwood, asking for more details about several nightclubs recently brought to his attention. The long letter he received in reply indicated the Commissioner’s delight in finally having a superior willing to address the issue. Of the six clubs then being investigated by the police, he explained, only one was ‘at present thought to be well conducted’. The others were suspected of varying degrees of criminality, with afterhours drinking being the most persistent misdemeanour. The Commissioner’s main complaint was that prosecution of the owners of such clubs was often ineffectual, as they simply paid a fine before reopening their premises under a different name. Horwood suggested that new legislation be introduced to prevent this ‘farce’ from continuing. Of especial importance, he said, was the need to be able to raid nightclubs without a warrant.33


At the time these letters were exchanged, the police had already paid a surprise visit to the most fashionable of all Soho clubs: the ‘Forty-three’ of 43 Gerrard Street, owned and managed by a notorious Irishwoman named Kate Meyrick. This entrepreneurial mother of eight, who had fled her husband in search of fortune after the war, personified the permissive spirit of 1920s London nightlife. Her club operated in a former storeroom of the Criterion restaurant, which she had redecorated in art deco style and furnished with a popular American jazz band. Through her activities she built up an enormous fortune of £150,000, and succeeded in marrying two of her daughters into the aristocracy.


Jix was adamant that such a woman should be punished. After being found guilty in November 1924 of selling intoxicating liquor after hours, she was duly sent to Holloway gaol for six months with hard labour – the most severe sentence yet handed down to a nightclub proprietor. Although Jix was not officially responsible for this decision, he was widely praised for curbing the excesses of what a friendly judge considered to be these ‘disgusting sinks of iniquity at which young men of means are robbed, petted by prostitutes and filled with drink’.34


Not everyone, however, sided so forcibly with the minister. A defender of ‘Merry England’ complained in a letter to the Daily Express that the British public had an instinctive dislike of ‘Puritanism and police’. Jix dutifully forwarded this contribution to his agents at Scotland Yard with a menacing note referring to its obscure author: ‘Keep this with [the] night club file’, he scrawled, ‘and … find out who or what Mr Michael Walsingham is.’ Unfortunately, no record of the ensuing investigation has survived.35


Plans to tighten up the law relating to nightclubs were well underway by early 1925. In February of that year Jix pledged to the House of Commons that he would shortly be proposing a bill to remedy ‘this great evil’ of ‘so-called nightclubs’. Yet he faced considerable opposition from his Cabinet colleagues, who discreetly pointed out that such a crusade might backfire. Not only was the total number of nightclubs negligible, many politicians followed the example of the Prince of Wales in frequenting them.36


Jix turned in disgust from such equivocation. Unaided by the new legislation he believed to be necessary, he made use of the un-repealed provisions of the wartime Defence of the Realm Act – ‘DORA’, as it was known – to secure six convictions for nightclub owners in the first half of 1925 alone. To circumvent the difficulty of obtaining evidence, he advised the police to infiltrate clubs dressed as revellers, only to arrest their unsuspecting hostesses when their orders for drinks were accepted.


For all Jix’s zeal, however, his campaign lost momentum between 1926 and 1928. His contacts at Scotland Yard suggested that the nightclub owners had learnt their lesson and had mended their ways. It was said that most clubs had ceased serving alcohol; that they had become merely places were guests could dance and listen to music. The worst days seemed to be over.


Jix’s natural suspicion of human nature did not allow these soothing testimonials to throw him off the scent. While ostensibly accepting the police’s clean bill of health on nightclubs, he made several unchaperoned excursions into Soho to see for himself. Had it not been for the fact that he was spotted by a parliamentary colleague at the opening of the fashionable ‘Kit-Kat Club’, this curious fact might have gone unrecorded. Questioned on the matter in the House of Commons shortly afterwards, Jix meekly protested that he had been under the misapprehension that the said establishment was a restaurant. Jix and his wife, it should be noted, were not regular ‘diner-outers’.37


The Kit-Kat Club incident provided much amusement for the press, but there was no reason why Jix should not have visited the clubs that his officers were supposed to be investigating. As he was wont to explain, he had no objection to clubs which were law-abiding – it was only the ones which insisted on serving alcohol after hours which roused his ire. For reputable club managers he had a certain degree of respect, even liking. After securing the deportation of a club owner named Victor Perosino in 1928, Jix received a letter from his victim suggesting that he visit his new club on the Continent. In his reply, Jix disarmingly wrote: ‘I am glad to hear that you are starting in Paris, and when I am next there I shall do myself the pleasure of visiting.’ The fact that the unused entrance tickets can be found among his private papers, however, suggests that Jix did not follow through with this surprising pledge.38


More disreputable nightclubs came to the Home Secretary’s attention through conversations with parliamentary colleagues in the House of Lords. One peer with personal knowledge of the matter told him that Mrs Meyrick, now released from prison, was back to her old ways, having reopened the ‘Forty-three’ as the ‘Richmond Club’. An enraged Jix immediately wrote to Commissioner Horwood that this club was a place ‘of the most intense mischief and immorality, even to the extent of doped women and drunken men’. He closed his rather quaint letter by instructing the police to resume their surveillance programme with the utmost vigilance.39


It was not long before the cause of the police’s inaction came to light. The officer assigned to monitor nightclubs in the Soho area, Sergeant George Goddard, was discovered to be taking enormous bribes from the club owners. On his humble salary of £6 per week, he was found to be maintaining a large freehold house, a private car and safe deposits amounting to over £12,000. He argued at his trial that his affluence stemmed from his wife’s thrift and his own gambling successes, but he was duly sentenced, along with Mrs Meyrick, for a lengthy term of imprisonment.40


The scandal did much to undermine Jix’s morality crusading. But it almost paled into insignificance beside the case of Sir Leo Chiozza Money, which blew up at practically the same time. Money, a 57-year-old former MP and government adviser, was caught late one evening in Hyde Park with his hand up the skirt of a young ‘radio valve inspector’ by the name of Irene Savidge. The miscreants were uncovered as a result of a parallel morality initiative formulated by Jix to make London’s parks safe places for a man to ‘take his daughters for a walk’. In pursuit of this end, Jix instructed Commissioner Horwood to deploy over sixty officers, at an annual cost of £25,000, to patrol these areas after dark. While dangerous parts of the city were left completely bereft of officers, this troop scoured the flowerbeds and shrubbery for evidence of illicit sexual activity.


The embarrassment of the scandal was exacerbated by the fact that the accused was well-known to Jix – he actually telephoned the Home Secretary from the police station on the night of his arrest. At his trial, Money argued that he had only been sitting with Miss Savidge because they shared a mutual interest in economics. Jix was sympathetic to this improbable version of events and seems to have encouraged the trial judge to acquit Money owing to lack of evidence. An outcry inevitably ensued, but Jix refused to reopen the case; not even a note from the Public Prosecutor telling him of Sir Leo’s well-documented predilections (ones which would ultimately lead to his downfall) stayed the minister’s hand. As the Home Secretary told an incredulous House of Commons, ‘It is not illegal for any young member of the community to take any equally young lady to Hyde Park to sit in the park, and it is not illegal to salute her with a chaste embrace.’ A cartoon appeared in the press the following day showing this salutation, Jix in the guise of Cupid making a careful inspection assisted by two constables with torches.41


The incident highlighted the difficulty of Jix’s attempt to reconcile his love of morality with a profound respect for the social hierarchy. Satirists found in him a hypocrite to mock, but there was no doubt that the tabloid sensationalism which accompanied high-profile cases such as Money’s gave rise to separate misdemeanours. Many felt Jix to have been entirely justified in backing an Act of Parliament in 1926 which limited the reporting of such cases if they were likely to cause ‘injury to public morals’.


But Jix was not quite in the clear. In order to spare Miss Savidge the ordeal of being cross-examined, the magistrate had not allowed her to be placed in the dock. This left the arresting officers open to the charge of perjury without ever having had the opportunity to put their case in open court. Guessing that senior officials at the Home Office would be unconcerned by this potential injustice, a chief inspector took it upon himself to have Miss Savidge ‘voluntarily’ brought to a police station and subjected to a five-hour interrogation. Although he and his colleagues eventually forced from her a full confession supporting the officers’ account, a complaint was lodged and a full-scale public outcry rapidly ensued.


The affair was one of the greatest blunders of Jix’s period at the Home Office, but the minister showed remarkable resourcefulness in deflecting criticism. Acknowledging the seriousness of Miss Savidge’s grievance against the police, he established a parliamentary committee to examine the facts – though, once again, he stressed that the circumstances surrounding Money’s arrest were not to be delved into. In response to the tribunal’s findings, Jix amended the police code to ensure that a female officer would always be present when a woman was questioned about matters ‘intimately affecting her morals’. He also mandated that no public prosecutions could be brought without the consent of his most trusted official, the Chief Commissioner.


Jix’s faith in his hand-picked parliamentary committee was justified by the exoneration of the rogue officers, but an illusion of a new broom was afforded by the happy coincidence of Horwood’s retirement later that year. As his replacement, Jix had the inspired idea of appointing a highly respected war hero, Field Marshal Viscount Byng, who began a series of reforms which stamped out the worst malpractices of the past. Jix deserved at least a glimmer of reflected glory. At the end of his five-year tenure at the Home Office, his portrait would be proudly hung in the entrance hall of the Metropolitan Police’s headquarters in recognition of his services to law enforcement.
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While Jix was thirsting for righteousness on the streets and in the clubs, matters were taking a rather different turn in the world of literature. In the works of authors such as James Joyce, D. H. Lawrence and Aldous Huxley aspects of life scarcely alluded to in the sentimental ‘three-decker’ novels of the Victorian age were treated with the utmost frankness.


No book to emerge from this circle compared to Lady Chatterley’s Lover. Written by an acknowledged master of the English language, it is today hailed as one of the most original novels of all time. Yet when it was completed in 1928, the book’s publisher could not bring it out in England. It could not even be posted into the country from abroad.42


It was the condemnation of a high-minded novel on the theme of lesbianism entitled The Well of Loneliness which sealed the book’s fate. Its author, Radclyffe Hall, was a masculine and ostentatious woman of substantial private means who liked to be known as John. Partial to elegant men’s suits and stodgy tomes on sexology, she spent the majority of her adult life touring the cathedrals of Europe with her lover, Lady Una Vicenzo Troubridge, whose attentions she had won from a disapproving admiral. Through the writings of her favourite sex theorist, Havelock Ellis, she became convinced that she was an ‘invert’ – by nature a man.


However much grey-bearded men enjoyed pouring scorn on Radclyffe Hall, there was nothing particularly explicit about her book. Not one of its 500 pages was sullied by the irksome four-letter words which so fired the creative genius of Lawrence. Her long-winded plot turns largely on the troubles of a distinctly autobiographical protagonist known as Stephen who is haunted by her attraction to heterosexual women. With sincere piety, she ‘sacrifices’ her lover by encouraging her to find happiness with a man. The raunchiest sex scene is confined to a half line: ‘…and that night they were not divided.’


By comparison to Lady Chatterley – with its depiction of sex as the ‘ridiculous bouncing of the buttocks, and the wilting of the poor insignificant, moist little penis’ – this was tame indeed. But to the Victorian turn of mind few themes were more dangerous or disgusting than homosexuality, particularly involving women. Though not quite illegal, lesbianism was regarded as a perverted attack on patriarchal society, and MPs had only recently contemplated extending the law to ensure that women, as well as men, could face prosecution for engaging in acts of ‘gross indecency’ with one another.


There was no obvious reason why Jix should have come into contact with the book. Since the relaxing of the printing laws in the seventeenth century, England had enjoyed one of the freest presses in the world. Publishers were at liberty to print what they wished; the only check being their foreknowledge that prosecution for defamation, sedition, breach of copyright or obscenity could follow. Members of the public who felt themselves aggrieved by any publication could either commence proceedings themselves or, if the case warranted government involvement, appeal to the Home Secretary to take action.


It was not long before this book became the subject of such a complaint. But it would be an exaggeration to say that it came from a disinterested member of the public. Only by a great stretch of the imagination could the novel be said to be of any public interest whatsoever. Bound in an anonymous black binding and priced well beyond the reach of the average reader, it was intended to appeal to a tiny coterie of progressive intellectuals to whom the subject matter was attractive. The publisher had not even thought to send review copies to the editors of the penny newspapers on the grounds that their readers would have no interest in the work.


These precautions did not prevent the most extravagant protest soon wafting up from the tabloid gutter. Beneath the screaming headline ‘A Book That Must Be Suppressed’, veteran commentator Jimmy Douglas drew on happy memories of the trial and conviction of Oscar Wilde in the 1890s to issue the following denunciation in the columns of the Sunday Express:




I am well aware that sexual inversion and perversion are horrors which exist among us today. They flaunt themselves in public places with increasing effrontery and more insolently provocative bravado. The decadent apostles of the most hideous and most loathsome vices no longer conceal their degeneracy and their degradation … This pestilence is devastating the younger generation. It is wrecking young lives. It is defiling young souls.43





The writer closed this remarkable indictment by advising the Home Secretary to ‘instruct the Director of Public Prosecutions to consider whether The Well of Loneliness is fit for circulation, and, if not, to take action to prevent its being further circulated’.




 





Jix had a copy of the book open on his octagonal writing desk at the Home Office by the following afternoon. It came directly from the book’s publisher, Jonathan Cape, who, in a moment of ostensible folly, wondered if Jix might see the preposterousness of the newspaper’s attack. As Havelock Ellis wrote to the incredulous author, who had not even been consulted on the matter: ‘He [Cape] invited the Home Secretary’s opinion – which he might have known beforehand!’44


It certainly seemed a reckless move. After wading through all 180,000 words of the Well, and conducting several ‘long private conferences’ with the Lord Chancellor and his own colleagues at the Home Department, Jix firmly planted himself on the side of the Sunday Express. In a letter to Cape sent only three days after receiving the book, he implicitly threatened the publisher with legal proceedings if he did not ‘accept my decision and withdraw the book’ at once. A memo to the Public Prosecutor made his position even clearer: the book, wrote Jix, was ‘both obscene and indecent … If they decline [to withdraw it] proceed at once.’45


Solemn public apologies were duly offered up by Cape in The Times and several other national and regional newspapers. He said that he would strictly adhere to the Home Secretary’s generous advice and would shortly be recalling every copy of the book for destruction. The effect was only too predictable – sales rocketed. All 5,000 copies of the book’s second edition had flown off the shelves before a single volume could be reclaimed. Ever the canny businessman, Cape then arranged to publish further copies of the book in Paris so that he could profit from the heightened interest by exporting them to England, thus avoiding the long arm of the law.


Or so he believed. By sending copies to private subscribers, Cape might avoid prosecution under the Obscene Publications Act of 1857, but he still had the even older Customs Consolidation Act of 1853 to contend with. This seldom enforced piece of legislation empowered the Head of Customs to impound any book likely to ‘offend against public morals’. The idea of a modern government invoking such a draconian and antiquated provision filled every cultured man and woman with dread; but those with a sense of humour were also slightly amused. In his 1930 novel, Vile Bodies, Evelyn Waugh envisaged the following scene at the Customs and Excise counter:




‘Books, eh?’ he said. ‘And what sort of books, may I ask?’


‘Look for yourself.’


‘Thank you, that’s what I mean to do. Books, indeed.’


Adam wearily unstrapped and unlocked his suitcase.


‘Yes,’ said the Customs officer menacingly, as though his worst suspicions had been confirmed, ‘I should just about say you had got some books.’


One by one he took the books out and piled them on the counter.


A copy of Dante excited his especial disgust.


‘French, eh?’ he said. ‘I guessed as much, and pretty dirty, too, I shouldn’t wonder. Now just you wait while I look up these here books’ – how he said it! – ‘in my list. Particularly against books the Home Secretary is. If we can’t stamp out literature in the country, we can at least stop its being brought in from outside. That’s what he said the other day in Parliament, and I says ‘Hear, hear…’46





Had Waugh known the truth about Jix’s campaign against the Well, he might have spared the poor customs man. The real Head of Customs, Sir Charles Floud, actually found the book to be written with ‘great literary skill and delicacy’. Contrary to Jix’s advice, he suggested that the government leave the Well alone. ‘[I]t will be difficult to know where to stop,’ he warned. If any book that referred to lesbianism was to be confiscated, then his men would have to seize even humorous works such as a recent satire by Compton Mackenzie entitled Extraordinary Women.47


Floud’s opinion closely resembled that of his direct superior, the Chancellor of the Exchequer, Winston Churchill. Having returned to the Tories after the fall of the Lloyd George coalition, the future war leader had been appointed to this position as a reward for his renewed loyalty to the party. While Jix took great pains to befriend Churchill, the younger man nursed bitter memories of his 1908 defeat. ‘Woe to the nightclubs! Confusion to all those naughty persons…’ he wrote of ‘the Puritan Home Secretary’. If Jix wished to condemn the Well, he could not expect for any help from this quarter.48


No matter. Apparently accepting Churchill’s blank refusal to enforce the 1853 Act, Jix hatched a plan to suppress the Well by means of the 1857 Act instead. His methods pushed the law to its limit. By arrangement with his friend the Postmaster General it was agreed that every letter sent to and from the Parisian publisher of the book would be intercepted for the purpose of gathering evidence. Jix was encouraged in this line by further moralising articles by Douglas, who howled in his Sunday column that the Well was ‘pouring into Britain and all over the world’.49


On 11 October 1928, the floodgates of reaction came crashing down. On that day Jix gave instructions to the Metropolitan Police to shadow a consignment of 250 copies of the book which had been released by Customs at Dover. A watch was kept on the bookshop to which they were headed ‘in case the parcel is removed to any other address’. Similarly, four copies released in the same consignment were to be safely seen through the publisher’s own letterbox. At both addresses the police were waiting with search warrants issued by the Chief Magistrate of Bow Street Police Court, Sir Charles Biron – a stalwart ally of the Home Secretary. Cape and the bookseller were duly summoned to explain why the Well should not be handed over to the common hangman for incineration, and themselves fined for possessing indecent matter.


Radclyffe Hall had every reason to feel persecuted. But not even her wildest conspiracy theories came close to discerning the full extent of the plot against her. Even the outcome of the trial had been fixed up in advance: Biron and Douglas had been given advance notice. On the same day that Jix had advised Cape to withdraw the book, the learned judge and the public moralist had been seen gossiping by Arnold Bennett at the all-male Garrick Club. This can hardly have been a coincidence. When Bennett went over to say a word in favour of his fellow author, he found the pair implacable: ‘I set violently on Jimmy at once,’ he wrote in his diary. ‘Jimmy was very quiet and restrained,’ he continued, ‘but Biron defended Jimmy with real heat; so I went on attacking.’50


The battle lines were now drawn. In a dry-run of the famous 1960 Penguin trial of Lady Chatterley, Virginia Woolf, Desmond MacCarthy and E. M. Forster all agreed to testify to the book’s literary merit. H. G. Wells, the Archbishop of York and Arthur Conan Doyle sent their best wishes. And George Bernard Shaw, although professing himself ‘too immoral to have credibility’, solemnly pledged his support.51


Jix was not to be outdone by these efforts. Not long after hearing of Radclyffe Hall’s plan, he called upon the greatest survivor of the Victorian age, the poet Rudyard Kipling, to attest to the book’s obscenity.


Incredibly, Kipling agreed. This was in contravention to his usual practice of disassociating himself from the transitory governments of the day, and his preference for abstaining from comment with regard to the works of his fellow authors. For Radclyffe Hall he was evidently prepared to make an exception. ‘The whole point of the book’, he wrote in fury to Jix, ‘is that people with that peculiar taste should be made much of and received into general society with their “lovers”.’ More to the point, he objected to the book ‘being sent to unmarried women’. ‘That’, he choked, ‘gives the whole game away.’52


This was really getting to the heart of the matter. What appalled Jix and his allies was not the Well’s inherent obscenity, but the effect they believed it would have on the mind of ‘the young person’. ‘The inconvenience of the young person’, as Charles Dickens wrote in Our Mutual Friend, ‘was that according to Mr Podsnap, she seemed always liable to burst into blushes when there was no need at all.’53


And yet the efforts of Jix and Radclyffe Hall were equally in vain. At both the magistrates’ trial and the later County Court appeal – at which Kipling had actually been present – no ‘expert’ witnesses were allowed to be called. Biron was so alarmed by the lengthy list of luminaries summoned in defence of the novel that he cleared them from the court. ‘I am here to decide whether this book is obscene or not,’ he thundered. After allowing only a few witnesses to testify, including the policeman responsible for raiding Cape’s offices, he adjourned the court for one week to take stock of the situation over brandy with Jimmy Douglas at the Garrick.


On 16 November, Biron returned to pass judgment. With much gravity he explained from the bench that the ‘horrible practices’ referred to in the book constituted an obscene libel. ‘Not merely that,’ he revealingly continued, ‘…the actual physical acts of these women indulging in unnatural vices are described in the most alluring terms; their result is described as giving these women extraordinary rest, contentment and pleasure … it is actually put forward that it improves their mental balance and capacity.’ He duly ordered the destruction of the book, and was upheld on appeal.


The verdict was greeted with whoops of joy in the tabloid press, where Jix was feted as a knight-errant of public morality. ‘That is the kind of invigoratingly prompt and effective action that becomes a Government department’, crowed Douglas. Only a handful of critics dared raise a voice in protest. In Time and Tide, author Hugh Walpole complained that Jix and his cronies had ‘caused certain subjects to be discussed, inquired into and pleasingly investigated as never before in the history of this our hypocritical country’. No commentator, however, had any notion of the lengths to which Jix had gone to ban the book. Fewer still could have guessed that his meddling was not confined solely to the Well.54


Enter Lady Chatterley’s Lover. Just two weeks after Biron’s crushing verdict, Jix ordered his officials to look out for copies of this book being sent through the post. That was not all: Jix also decreed that any mere correspondence passing between the work’s author and his English publisher should likewise be steamed open and copied for his perusal. In late November 1928, Lawrence, walled up in a hotel on the Continent, was informed that the typescript of his latest offering, a rude collection of poems entitled Pansies, was now being considered by the Home Secretary.


This was a new development in the history of censorship. But Jix once again found an ingenious way of circumventing criticism. In reply to a question on the matter put to him by a friend of Lawrence’s in the House of Commons, the Home Secretary coolly explained that the offending material had only been opened as part of a routine check to ensure that the packet had been posted at the correct rate. When his officials had found the contents to be obscene, he explained, they had a legal obligation to prevent their circulation.


The only flaw in this brilliantly technical argument was that Lawrence had sent his manuscript by registered post – the stamp price could not have been in dispute. ‘I do wish it could be shown’, fumed Lawrence in disgust, ‘that [Jix] is a liar, and he did open my sealed and registered letter.’55


No such accusation could be proved. But, as if to concede his error, Jix quietly arranged for Lawrence’s file to be disposed of by his deputies at the Home Office.


The novelist waited two years to exact his revenge. He did so in a cruel pamphlet entitled Pornography and Obscenity in which he portrayed the former Home Secretary as a pervert and a hypocrite. In one of the most damning passages, Lawrence denounced Jix – that ‘very sincere Puritan, grey, grey in every fibre’ – as one of the ‘grey elderly ones belong[ing] to the last century, the eunuch century, the century of the mealy-mouthed lie, the century that has tried to destroy humanity, the nineteenth century’. Like most of those earnest Victorians of yesteryear, he continued, Jix belonged to ‘the great pornographical class … They have the grey disease of sex-hatred, coupled with the yellow disease of dirt lust.’56


Lawrence ended this attack on the ex-minister by alleging that Jix had once castigated a novel for tempting a couple into having sex for the first time. ‘One up to them!’ roared Lawrence. ‘…But the grey Guardian of British Morals seemed to think that if they had murdered one another, or worn each other to rags of nervous prostration, it would have been much better. The grey disease!’57


There may have been some truth in these charges, but Lawrence’s tirade betrayed a misconception of Jix. For the late minister was not merely a petty tyrant and a kill-joy: he was also an idealist. In the closing lines of his trenchant defence of censorship, Do We Need a Censor?, published in the same series as Lawrence’s polemic, Jix envisaged a world free from the Lord Chamberlain’s blue pencil:




May I say one more word of the ideal which I have in mind? It is that by the spread of education and the extension of religion in the hearts of the people they will themselves learn to reject all forms of unpleasant conduct, literature, art – and beyond all, of personal thought. If the people learn, not merely to disregard, but to detest all these forms of indecency in thought, word and deed, the day will come when no form of censorship will be needed, when there will be no prosecutions for breaches of the law, and when Acts of Parliament will be a dead letter on the Statute Book, because the people themselves will have attained, by religion, by education and by personal thought, that cleanness of heart which alone can ensure a cleanness of thought and of action.58
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One of the most curious documents to be found among Jix’s personal papers is a note written to Lieutenant Colonel J. F. Carter of New Scotland Yard’s Special Branch. The letter concerned an alleged Soviet agent named McDonnell, who was said to have ‘spoken in rather friendly terms about the Russian government’ at the bar of Swanage Golf Club. The tip off came from the zealously anti-Bolshevist editor of the Morning Post, H. A. Gwynne, who kept the Home Secretary abreast of all matters Soviet related. Jix demanded that Carter make a thorough investigation of the matter.59


A month later came a laconic response from Carter’s commanding officer, Major General Sir Wyndham Childs. He informed the Home Secretary that the suspect was unlikely to pose a serious threat to the state. Extensive investigations had revealed him to be none other than a former British vice-counsel and key negotiator of international trade contracts by the name of Aeneas Ronald MacDonnell, CBE. ‘It is scarcely necessary to pursue further inquiries,’ the official tartly concluded.


The exchange illustrates the extent to which Jix believed communism to have taken root in the country. If a revolution was being plotted in the smoking room of Swanage Golf Club, what hope was there for the constitution?


Jix wished to bring all such troublemakers before the courts. Only a short time after his appointment as Home Secretary, he persuaded the Attorney General, after personally lobbying the Lord Chancellor and even the King, to recommence proceedings against the most notorious of them all, J. R. Campbell, whose comments in the Workers’ Weekly had helped bring down the first Labour government. The editor and eleven of his colleagues were duly arraigned before Jix’s trusted accomplice Sir Chartres Biron at Bow Street before being sent up to the Old Bailey for trial. Here they were convicted under the eighteenth-century Incitement to Mutiny Act in one of the most sensational political trials of the inter-war years. Before sentencing, the judge sternly offered to spare five of the accused if they pledged to renounce their membership of the Communist Party. When they refused, he furiously ordered their incarceration.


Contemporaries found little to fault in the clearly prejudiced decision. As a stiff editorial in The Times explained, the Communist Party was not ‘like any other party’ – it was ‘a branch of a widespread revolutionary and conspiratorial organisation which has never made any secret of its intention to work for the downfall of all states not organised on a Communistic basis’. Jix wholeheartedly endorsed this view. But he went further in seeing almost no distinction between communism, socialism and trade unionism. All were, in his eyes, part of the same malady.60


Jix’s objection was moral. ‘I fear that there has grown up in the hearts of the great mass of the English people’, he lamented in his memoirs, ‘a real disinclination to work hard, and a desire to get as much as they can without giving their utmost in return.’ In his view, there could be no return to ‘better times’ until the people regained ‘the spirit of work for work’s sake which is the only foundation of all real happiness and real prosperity’.61


Not since the days of Queen Victoria had such views been widespread. Crippled by a massive war debt and a stagnant world economy, Britain was not the booming industrial power she had once been. Jix’s attempt to put the clock back might have been destined to fail, but he was not alone in his efforts. His colleague Churchill had used his first Budget as Chancellor to return Britain to the Gold Standard, fixing the Pound against the Dollar at its pre-war level. This was far too high a valuation, causing exports to dwindle, wages to fall and the cost of living to sky-rocket. In attempting to retreat into the past, the government had inadvertently sown the dragon’s teeth of future unrest. A General Strike loomed.


At the heart of the matter were Britain’s lacklustre coal mines. Once the pride of the nation and the driving force of the Industrial Revolution, they were now an embarrassment. Seams had run thin, and the ideas of the mine owners were looking even more depleted. Following the huge drop in the coal price after the war, the miners had been compelled to work for longer hours and to accept swingeing cuts in wages. In the face of this austerity, the Miners’ Federation had formed a Triple Alliance with the unionised railwaymen and dock-workers to begin a fight-back. This triumvirate threatened to bring their members out on strike in April 1921 unless the government intervened to improve conditions. Desperate to avoid such a huge disruption, the coalition set up a Royal Commission to look into the matter. After rejecting its suggestion that the government partly nationalise the coal industry, Lloyd George offered a £10 million subsidy to the mine owners to get their house in order.


The task was beyond them. Four years later, when the subsidy expired, Baldwin found himself in an equally unsatisfactory position. In the face of strong opposition from Jix and several other hardliners in the Cabinet, he decided to renew the subsidy. In July 1925 another £10 million was splurged on the mine owners.


Jix was indignant. In the strongest terms he advised his colleagues against spending one penny of taxpayers’ money in this way. He proposed instead to let the market take its course. If the miners had the temerity to strike, he suggested, the government should take action – and crush them.


Baldwin set himself firmly against this adversarial approach. Despite the majority of the country opposing the tactics of the unions, he warned Jix that the government was unprepared for such a major clash with industry. Grim forecasts of cities deprived of food and other essential supplies persuaded his colleagues to agree to the subsidy in spite of Jix’s noisy protests. But to appease the Home Secretary and his fellow diehards, Baldwin asked a respected civil servant, Sir Herbert Samuel, to chair a new Royal Commission on the mining industry. Secret preparations were also set afoot to overcome the logistical challenge which a General Strike would present.


Jix was the ideal man to undertake this task. With his fierce loathing of communism and exceptional attention to detail, no member of the Cabinet rivalled his standing as the foremost opponent of Bolshevism. Baldwin duly appointed him director of the so-called ‘Organisation for the Maintenance of Supplies’: a secret quasi-governmental taskforce first established in 1923 to disguise the more military preparations which were to be the ultimate solution. In the style of a medieval king, Jix and his talented under-secretary, John Anderson, proceeded to divide the country into ten divisions, each to be overseen by a ‘Civil Commissioner’ with a staff of civil servants at his disposal. These Commissioners were instructed to recruit battalions of volunteers to act as strike breakers in the event of major disturbance. Although not an overtly political organisation, many of the recruits came from the far right – in Liverpool a group of British Fascists were appointed as Special Constables. On Jix’s command (codeword ‘Action!’) these men were to come out to restore law and order by whatever means necessary.62


Throughout the latter half of 1925 and the beginning of 1926, the country waited anxiously for Baldwin’s subsidy to expire. When the Samuel Commission issued its findings on 10 March, repeating many of the recommendations of the previous inquiry, the government found itself in exactly the position it had been in before. Negotiations with the miners, pit-owners and leaders of the labour movement were carried on throughout March and April, but to no avail. An abiding problem was the lack of co-ordination of the unions. The newly formed Trade Union Congress had delegated executive power to its General Council, but still retained a degree of power for itself. By contrast to Jix’s slick, well-oiled machine at the Home Office, its processes were slow, cumbersome and unwieldy. This caused a major problem on the night of 1 May, when, in the midst of heated negotiations between the General Council and the government’s most senior lawyer and lead negotiator, Lord Birkenhead, the union bosses sent an unauthorised telegram to their members instructing them to strike at midnight on 3 May. Unaware of this development, Baldwin and the Lord Chancellor came to a provisional agreement with the General Council before adjourning at two o’clock in the morning.


This was the proposal put before the Cabinet at noon the following day. Once again, it fell to Jix to lead the assault on any compromise. He told his colleagues that he had heard from the Postmaster General that strike orders had already been sent out. He did not, however, add that these instructions had been contingent on no settlement being agreed between the General Council and Lord Birkenhead. At seven o’clock that evening, the General Council, realising the spectacular misunderstanding that had occurred, informed Baldwin that they had not been able to communicate with either the TUC leaders or the miners’ representatives, who had returned home to the north of England. A desperate attempt was now made by the General Council to contact them and call off the strike. The Cabinet sat up late into the night anxiously awaiting news.


Just before midnight, a telephonist entered their room to inform the Home Secretary that someone from the Daily Mail wished to speak to him. Jix solemnly withdrew to take the call. Over a crackling line, he heard that the newspaper’s compositors had refused to set to type a leading article entitled ‘For King and Country’, denouncing the proposed strike as illegal and unpatriotic. Jix’s imagination now took over. Upon returning to his fellow ministers he gravely announced, on his own initiative, that the General Strike had begun. Credulously, Baldwin declared a state of emergency and authorised Jix to rouse his Civil Commissioners. When the unsuspecting General Council returned to the conference room a few hours later they found it dark and locked. As the New Statesman put it, ‘The Cabinet had declared war and gone to bed.’63


There was no going back now. Jix had called the TUC’s bluff: its members would have to go through with the strike whether they wanted to or not. In misleading his colleagues over the significance of the isolated Daily Mail incident, Jix had played a critical role in precipitating the crisis – but he was no less popular for it. Churchill, for one, believed it to have been Jix’s finest hour: a masterstroke to overcome the ‘wets’ within the government. Even Lord Birkenhead was delighted. The long-awaited General Strike, desired by extremists on both sides of the political divide, was now underway.


For nine historic days, the veterans of the 1908 Manchester North-West by-election worked in harness to crush the insurrection. If anything, it was Churchill who was the more fanatical of the pair. While Jix’s role was confined principally to organising the civilian response to the strike, Churchill assumed command of the military dimension. As he explained to Jix and the Minister for War, Sir Laming Worthington-Evans, ‘I have done your job for four years, Jix, and yours for two, Worthy, so I had better unfold my plan.’64


His plan certainly lived up to Lord Beaverbrook’s assertion that Churchill had in him ‘the stuff of which tyrants are made’. His first move was to commandeer the offices of the Morning Post – willingly given up by Jix’s loyal associate H. A. Gwynne – in order to put together a daily propaganda sheet entitled the British Gazette. This was a task for which Churchill, a journalist to his fingertips, was ideally suited. But Jix wisely restrained him from also taking command of the relatively new British Broadcasting Company. Such a plan, he warned, would be ‘fatal’ to their purpose. Instead Jix negotiated with the company’s general manager, John Reith, to be allowed to make a special broadcast calling for 50,000 volunteers to help distribute stockpiled supplies. As the more seasoned orator of the ministerial duo, this was certainly Jix’s domain. On the evening of 5 May listeners heard his clipped, earnest voice calling upon the men who had lately given so unselfishly in the Great War to ‘obey the call of their country’ and help fight for ‘their rights in order to preserve peace in our land’.65


Coming less than a decade after the brutal crushing of the Spartacist uprising in Berlin by the proto-fascist ‘Freikorps’, this was a worrying development, and Jix was widely taunted (not entirely to his disliking) as ‘Mussolini Minor’. But beneath the veneer of extreme authoritarianism, Jix was more constitutionally minded than many of his enemies acknowledged. When Churchill proposed to arm their civilian cohort and merge them with units of the Territorial Army, Jix sounded a note of caution, suppressing a ‘wild article’ by Churchill advocating the policy. With greater deference to the laws of England, Jix suggested that they instead overcome the strike through ostentatious displays of ‘British pluck’. Images of grinning office workers packed onto buses and milk vans controlled by hardy volunteers became an image of national solidarity. So too did the fleets of private motor cars put at Jix’s disposal in recognition of his long association with the Automobile Association, over which he had presided from 1908 to 1923. ‘To say that Britain was saved by the motor car’, gloated Jix in his memoirs, ‘is no idle boast.’ The car owner, he said, would always be ‘against the bitter selfishness of the striker’.66




The strike was also broken by Jix’s creative use of the law. Yet again, the wartime DORA provisions were resurrected to put a stop to would-be rabble-rousers. With the assistance of a compliant judge of the High Court, Mr Justice Astbury, who declared the strike to be illegal, Jix ensured that the courts would be busy for many months to come. In Darlington a man was sentenced for three months imprisonment for throwing a stone at a car; in Birmingham a striker received six months with hard labour for assaulting a civilian assisting a police officer. Jix was also adamant that justice should be seen to be done. In Cardiff and Brighton, where rioting had accompanied the disturbances, prisoners travelling from cell to court were marched through the town in chains. Even MPs were not exempt. A fiery Indian communist named Shapurji Saklatvala, who sat on the Labour benches, was arraigned before Biron of Bow Street for making an impassioned May Day speech in Hyde Park on behalf of the miners. After being severely rebuked for his political opinions, he was bailed for the large sum of £200 and later sentenced to two months imprisonment at Wormwood Scrubs as a common felon.67


The combination of Jix’s constitutional means of sapping the morale of the strikers and Churchill’s more belligerent tactics was highly effective. Both men embraced the theatrical aspect of their undertaking, and were compared by one acid commentator to a pair of directors presiding over a film in which they were the heroes. The most spectacular demonstration of this was Churchill’s insistence that they send in a division of tanks to break a picket line at a crucial East End dock. ‘Winston was all for a tremendous display of force,’ wrote the Chief Civil Commissioner, J. C. C. Davidson, ‘machine guns hidden but there; tanks … used in addition to armoured cars, and so on.’ Reluctantly Jix agreed to this scheme, accepting a £5 bet from Davidson that not a single bullet would be fired – a wager he gladly lost. With greater foresight, Jix arranged for a submarine to be deployed beside the quay. When the dock lights were inevitably shut off by the thwarted unionists there was an alternative power supply on which to draw.68


By comparison to his zealous deputies, the Prime Minister appeared to be weak and indecisive throughout the strike. He was eager to negotiate with the unions, even hinting that he might implement the socialistic recommendations of the Samuel Commission as a means of ending the disruption. Jix, however, would allow no such thing. When the leaders of the TUC were invited to reopen discussions at Downing Street on 12 May, he wrote to Baldwin insisting that no meeting should take place until ‘there has been an unconditional withdrawal of the General Strike’. Aware that the Prime Minister might not appreciate this lordly command, Jix forwarded his message to the more amenable permanent secretary at the Ministry of Labour, Sir Horace Wilson, who ensured that it was put into effect. The strategy worked brilliantly. Shortly after noon the TUC delegates abandoned the miners and instructed their members to return to work on the same conditions as before. The news was greeted with sighs of relief throughout the country.69


Jix had triumphed. He had shown that the unions could not act collectively to achieve their individual ends. In the Sunday Express he was proclaimed as the most universally respected member of the government besides the Prime Minister. Letters poured in from members of the public and high-profile admirers. The chairman of the London Underground, Lord Ashfield, commended him for his ‘magnificent services to the state in the great crisis’. Even the veteran leader of the 1889 Dock Strike, Ben Tillett, signalled his grudging respect for the strike breaker.70
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